RECEIVED

Nov 02 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001431
Charleston County Case No. 2019-CP-10-02894

Roi Tan Enterprises LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Akim Anastopoulo and Anastopoulo Law Firm, LLC,

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/ J.C. Nicholson, III

Eric Poulin

SC Bar No. 100209

Eric.Poulin@poulinwilley.com

J.C. Nicholson, III

SC Bar No. 70324

JC.Nicholson@poulinwilley.com

Poulin Willey Anastopoulo, LLC

32 Ann Street

Charleston, SC 29403

(803) 222-2222

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING DEFENDANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS AND AWARDING MONETARY SANCTIONS WHEN DEFENDANTS COMPLIED WITH THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER ON DISCOVERY?
2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING DEFENDANTS' JURY TRIAL DEMAND WHEN PLAINTIFF HAD INVOKED ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 31, 2019, Roi Tan Enterprises, LLC ("Plaintiff") brought a breach of contract action against Akim Anastopoulo individually alleging the breach of a lease agreement for office rental space in downtown Charleston. On January 16, 2020, Roi Tan then brought an Amended Complaint against Akim Anastopoulo and Anastopoulo Law Firm, LLC ("Defendants") and in that operative pleading demanded a jury trial. Am. Complaint p. 2. In answering the Amended Complaint, Defendants counterclaimed and demanded a jury trial as well. Answer to Am. Complaint pp. 1, 4-8.

Discovery ensued and during the pendency of the case, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel based on information gathered during a 30(b)(6) deposition of Defendants. A hearing was held on the Motion to Compel and an Order granting the motion was entered on October 28, 2022. In that Order the Court gave Defendants fourteen days (14) to provide the additional documentation and the Plaintiff then had ten days (10) to evaluate the document production. Oct. 28, 2022 Order p. 3. Defendants complied with the deadline and provided the documents on November 13, 2022. Fifty-one (51) days later on January 3, 2023, Plaintiff requested additional document production from the Defendants based on its review of the November production. Plaintiff subsequently filed a Rule to Show Cause motion and a motion to strike Defendants' jury trial

demand on February 7, 2023. Both parties filed memorandums with the Court before the Court hearing held on May 30, 2023. The Court heard oral argument on both motions and ultimately ruled on the Rule to Show Cause that Defendants had fifteen days (15) from the date of the hearing to produce specific information regarding damages alleged in their counterclaims. Transcript, p. 8, lines 4-10. The Court took the jury trial issue under advisement. Transcript, p. 13, lines 11-17. Defendants complied with the additional document production on June 14, 2023. The Court then issued a written Order on August 15, 2023, that acknowledged the Defendants complied with the Court's ordered deadline, but it then went ahead and struck Defendants' counterclaims and *sua sponte* awarded sanctions in the amount of \$2500.00. The Court also ruled at that time that Defendants' demand for a jury trial was also stricken. Aug. 15, 2023 Order.

Defendants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's August Order and both parties submitted memorandums on the reconsideration motion¹ and the Court issued its ruling denying Defendants' Motion to Alter or Amend on September 1, 2023. Defendant filed their Notice of Appeal shortly thereafter on September 8, 2023.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule to Show Cause

“When reviewing judge's order of sanctions, the appellate court takes its own view of the facts. [W]here the appellate court agrees with the trial court's findings of fact, it reviews the decision to award sanctions, as well as the terms of those sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard. An abuse of discretion may be found if the trial court's conclusions lack reasonable factual support.” *Ex parte Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hospital, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 590, 597, 713

¹ The parties disagree as to the timeliness of Defendants' filing of their Motion to Alter or Amend but the Court issued its ruling without addressing any of the arguments raised by either party. The difference between the parties being one day. Additionally, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 provides an appeal as of right in this case.

S.E.2d 624, 628 (2011); *quoting Father v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 353 S.C. 254, 260-61, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003) and *Runyon v. Wright*, 322 S.C. 15, 19, 471 S.E.2d 160, 162 (1996).

Jury Trial Demand

“Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law” which means the Court may review the lower court’s decision de novo. *See Carolina First Bank v. BADD, LLC*, 414 S.C. 289, 293 778 S.E.2d 106, 108 (2015); *abrogated on other grounds by Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2007-1 NovaStar Equity Loan Asset Backed Certificates Series 2007-1 v. Estate of Houck*, 440 S.C. 409, 892 S.E.2d 280 (2023); *see also Zurich American Insurance Co. of Illinois v. Palmetto Contract Svcs., Inc.*, 434 S.C. 104, 109, 862 S.E.2d 714, 716 (Ct. App. 2021).

FACTS

This case arises out of dispute over a commercial lease agreement. The parties began negotiating for office space located in the Cigar Factory building in downtown Charleston. Upon the advertising of the space, the office itself was unfinished with no drywall, no floor coverings, no HVAC, and no electrical outlets. As part of the negotiations over the space, Plaintiff represented to Defendants that it would upfit the space to Defendants’ specifications. Defendants relied on Plaintiff’s representations in agreeing to occupy the space. During the time Defendants occupied the space, the parties went back and forth over the cost of necessary upfits, the bidding process for contractors to perform the work, and the cost of upfits. Answer to Am. Complaint, pp. 5-6. Ultimately, the parties could not agree on the issues related to the space and Defendants vacated the space and this suit commenced as a result. The Plaintiff’s claim is for breach of contract and Defendants have counterclaimed for breach of contract, civil conspiracy, and fraudulent misrepresentation. In the course of discovery, certain damages claimed by Defendants

in their counterclaims became the subject of Plaintiff's Motion to Compel which started the applicable chain of events for this appeal. Specifically, the documentary evidence for Defendants' damages stemming from their counterclaims are the documents which are at the center of the Plaintiff's Rule to Show Cause motion.

Argument

Rule to Show Cause

The trial court abused its discretion in striking Defendants' counterclaims and awarding sanctions considering Defendants complied with the Court's Order on discovery and the Court even acknowledges as such in its August 15, 2023 Order. Aug. 15, 2023 Order, p. 1. As such, Defendants did not engage in any behavior that is violative of any Court Order, including the oral May 2023 Order and the written August 2023 Order. As such, there is no evidentiary support for an award of sanctions much less the severe sanctions imposed in this case such as striking Defendants' counterclaims in their entirety and *sua sponte* awarding monetary sanctions.

The trial court's sanctions order did not describe any conduct that violated any rule, nor did it engage in any findings of fact to explain the basis for the sanction imposed as required. *See Ex parte Bon Secours*, 393 S.C. at 597. As argued in its briefing on the Rule to Show Cause issue, the Defendants simply had a good faith disagreement with Plaintiff over the interpretation of the terms of the October 28, 2022 Order, specifically as it related to the timeliness of Plaintiff's review of Defendants' production. Defendants' Memo in Opp., p. 3. As the trial court admits, Defendants did indeed comply with its August 15, 2023 Order on document production which only further perplexes the factual basis for its imposition of sanctions. In short,

Defendants are at a loss as to what they are alleged to have done wrong in order to have their counterclaims stricken entirely and fined.

As noted by the SC Supreme Court, a party has two choices when faced with an order directing a party to participate in discovery: 1) comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal; or 2) refuse to comply with the order and appeal after he is held in contempt for his failure to comply. *See Davis v. Parkview Apartments, et al.*, 409 S.C. 266, 281, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014); *relying on Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 347 S.E.2d 881-82 (1986). In this case, Defendants complied with the oral ruling of the trial court and yet were still held in contempt and sanctioned as though they did not comply. The sanctions awarded by the trial court, the striking of all of Defendants' counterclaims and the monetary award are tantamount to granting a judgment by default or dismissal which requires the Plaintiff to show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction. *See Davis*, 409 S.C.at 282-83, 762 S.E.2d at 544; *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198-99, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718-19 (Ct.App.1999) (*citing Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991)). Defendants have not acted in bad faith simply because of their interpretation of the October 28, 2022 Order was different than the interpretation by Plaintiff. Defendants have not willfully disobeyed any Order in this case but rather they have complied with all Orders regarding discovery in this matter. Plaintiff has not shown any gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction as they were given the documents within the timeline ordered by this Court.

The Court, in deciding the severity of sanctions, should weigh specific factors. The Court should "weigh the precise nature of the discovery, the discovery posture of the case, willfulness,

and the degree of prejudice.” *Skywaves Corp. v. Branch Banking and Trust Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 456-57, 814 S.E.2d 643, 656-57 (Ct.App.2018); *see also McNair v. Fairfield County*, 379 S.C. 462, 467, 665 S.E.2d 830, 832-33 (Ct.App.2008) (*quoting Griffin*, 334 S.C. at 199, 511 S.E.2d at 719 (Ct.App.1999)); *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct.App.1997). The Court’s August 15, 2023 Order imposing sanctions did not weigh any of the above factors in deciding the severity of sanctions. However, even if it had, the Court would not be able to assign any weight to the wilfulness factor or the degree of prejudice factor as Defendants complied with the Court’s 15-day directive and the Plaintiff cannot show any prejudice as it has the documents it requested. Additionally, the nature of the discovery is evidence of Defendants’ damages for their counterclaims which was known to Plaintiff via deposition testimony already and now through documentary evidence and thus provides no significant weight. The discovery posture is also unavailing as the case was still in the pre-trial discovery process.

The Court’s decision to impose the severe sanction of dismissal of all of Defendants’ counterclaims and a *sua sponte* monetary fine are all harsh medicine not warranted by the circumstances of this case. “[T]he sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the [c]ourt should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case.” *Rickerson v. Karl*, 412 S.C. 215, 221, 770 S.E.2d 767, 770-71 (Ct.App.2015) (*quoting Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 154, 399 S.E.2d 439, 440 (Ct.App.1990)). As noted above, Defendants complied with discovery and should not be sanctioned at all but *assuming arguendo* sanctions are warranted, the sanctions awarded here are too severe under the circumstances. The *Rickerson* opinion of the Court of Appeals provides an excellent analysis of various cases decided by it and the S.C. Supreme Court regarding comparing the severity of an

imposed sanction with discovery behavior by litigants. The theme that is common through all of them is the litigants refused in one way or another to comply with discovery at all or destroyed discoverable evidence and usually the non-compliance was done after several orders from the various trial courts warning about such behavior. *See Rickerson*, 412 at 221-222, 770 at 771-72 (internal citations omitted).

Thus, the Court's conclusion on awarding sanctions in this case was without reasonable factual support, results in prejudice to Defendants, and therefore amounts to an abuse of discretion. *See Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 283, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014). Therefore, Defendants request this Court reverse the trial court's August 15, 2023 Order, remove all sanctions imposed against them and remand this case to allow it to proceed on its merits before a properly empaneled jury.

Jury Trial Demand

The trial court's order granting Plaintiff's motion to strike Defendants' jury trial demand should be overturned. The trial court did not provide any factual support or legal analysis for its decision to strike Defendants' jury trial request.

"The South Carolina Constitution preserves the right of trial by jury only in those cases in which parties would have been entitled to it at the time of the adoption of the Constitution." *Bateman v. Rouse*, 358 S.C. 667, 673, 596 S.E.2d 386, 389 (Ct.App.2004) *relying upon Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 267, 491 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1997). *See also* Rule 38(a), SCRCP ("The right of trial by jury as declared by the Constitution or as given by a statute of South Carolina shall be preserved to the parties inviolate. Issues of fact in an action for the recovery of money only or of specific real or personal property must be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial be

waived.”). This matter is for the recovery of money pursuant to an alleged breach of contract and Defendants’ counterclaims for fraudulent misrepresentation, breach of contract, and civil conspiracy all involve issues of fact to be determined by a jury. As noted above, Plaintiff has voluntarily chosen to not waive its demand for a jury trial and Defendants followed the same course in demanding a jury trial on the counterclaims. Additionally, the counterclaims made in this case arise out of the same transaction as those of the Plaintiff. *See Wachovia Bank Nat. Ass’n. v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 329, 755 S.E.2d 437, 442 (2014); *abrogated by Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2007-1 NovaStar Equity Loan Asset Backed Certificates Series 2007-1 v. Estate of Houck*, 440 S.C. 409, 892 S.E.2d 280 (2023) (changing the compulsory/permissive analysis for counterclaims only for cases commenced on or after the effective date of the opinion).

Waivers of the right to trial by jury are to be strictly construed. *See Wachovia*, 407 S.C. at 332; see also *Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 566 S.E.2d 863 (2002) & *North Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., et al.*, 307 S.C. 533, 535, 416 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1992).

The lease agreement does contain a waiver of the right to a jury trial in Article 25.10 of the lease. However, Article 25.10 provides that both parties to the lease waive their right to a jury trial, including counterclaims. Lease Agreement, p. 30. However, due to the nature of Defendants’ counterclaims being compulsory whether the analysis is under *Wachovia* or under *Deutsche Bank*, the waiver provided under the lease agreement is unenforceable because Defendants would not be allowed to bring a separate action later for those claims. *See Beach*

Co., 351 S.C. at 62-3, *relying on Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 217, 493 S.E.2d 826, 835 (1997).

As noted above, the Plaintiff's operative pleading in this case demands a jury trial. It is axiomatic in South Carolina that the Plaintiff is the master of his pleadings and is the one who controls whether a jury trial is requested in his complaint. *See Caterpillar, Inc. v. Williams*, 482 U.S. 386, 107 S.Ct. 2425, 96 L.Ed.2d 318 (1987); *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022). As waivers are strictly construed, the lower court erred in not finding the incongruity in the outcome of allowing the Plaintiff to waive its own lease terms when it suits it but enforcing the same lease term as against the Defendants.

The loss of the right to a jury trial prejudices the Defendants as it prevents them from availing themselves of a sacred right and has a negative effect on the presentation of the merits of the case. See also S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. The trial court provided no legal analysis or factual support for its decision in denying Defendants of this important right especially in light of the fact that Plaintiff voluntarily demanded a jury trial in its Amended Complaint.

Additionally, pursuant to Rule 38(d) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure: A demand for trial by jury made as herein provided may not be withdrawn without the consent of the parties, except where an opposing party is in default under Rule 55(a). This rule requires consent of the parties. Obviously, Defendants do not consent to the withdrawal of Plaintiff's jury trial demand. The contractual provisions do not know retroactively operate to take away a right to a jury trial now that Plaintiff has voluntarily waived the contractual provision by demanding a jury trial. Also, the "decision whether to order jury trial under rule governing trial by jury as of

right is not discretionary with circuit court.” *Zurich American Insurance Co. of Illinois v. Palmetto Contract Services, Inc.*, 434 SC 104, 109, 862 S.E.2d 714, 716 (Ct.App.2021).

Such action by the trial court amounts to an error of law, prejudicing the rights of Defendants and therefore should be reversed by this Court.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and for any other reason that may be evident from the record, the trial court’s decision awarding sanctions and striking Defendants’ jury trial demand should be reversed, and the case should be remanded for trial.