**RECEIVED**

**Jun 27 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001431  
Charleston County Case No. 2019-CP-10-02894

---

Roi Tan Enterprises LLC, Respondent,

v.

Akim Anastopoulo and Anastopoulo Law Firm, LLC Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

*/s/ Arthur C. Pelzer*

\_\_\_\_\_  
Arthur C. Pelzer

SC Bar No. 71153

arthur@pelzerlawfirm.com

Pelzer Law Firm, LLC

266 Meeting Street

Charleston, South Carolina 29401

(843) 789-4511

Attorney for Respondent

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO STRIKE DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL.
- II. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE.
- III. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED RESPONDENT'S RULE 59, SCRPC MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE ORDER.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Roi-Tan Enterprises, LLC (hereafter the “Respondent”) filed its Summons & Complaint in the underlying lawsuit on May 31, 2019, making no demand for a jury trial and asserting causes of action arising from the breach of a commercial lease agreement and guaranty by Akim Anastopoulos. (R. pp.11-82). Akim Anastopoulos filed a Rule 12(b)(7), SCRCF motion to dismiss asserting the failure to name Anastopoulos Law Firm, LLC as a necessary party. By Order dated January 15, 2020, the Court denied the motion to dismiss but required Anastopoulos Law Firm, LLC to be added as a necessary party pursuant to Rule 19, SCRCF. Respondent filed its Amended Summons & Complaint on January 16, 2020. (R. pp. 83-150). Akim Anastopoulos and Anastopoulos Law Firm, LLC (hereafter collectively the “Appellants” and individually “Appellant Anastopoulos” and “Appellant Law Firm”) respectively filed their Answer, Counterclaims, and demand for jury trial on January 30, 2020. (R. pp.151-159).

On April 5, 2022, Respondent filed a motion to compel against Appellants due to the failure of Appellants to produce documents and damages information identified during the deposition testimony of Anastopoulos and of Roy Willey, as Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCF designee for Anastopoulos Law Firm, as existing but not produced in discovery responses. (R. pp. 160-161). Following a hearing on Respondent’s Motion to Compel, the Lower Court issued an Order Granting Respondent’s Motion to Compel on October 28, 2022 (hereafter the “Order to Compel”). (R. pp. 1-4). Thereafter, on February 7, 2023, Respondent filed its Motion for Rule to Show Cause (hereafter the “Motion to Show Cause”) due to Appellants’ failure to produce the discovery and damages information as mandated by the Order to Compel. (R. pp. 165-173).

On December 5, 2022, Respondent filed its Motion to Strike Appellants’ Demand for Jury Trial (hereafter the “Motion to Strike”). (R. pp. 162-164). Prior to a hearing on

Respondent's Motion to Strike and Motion to Show Cause, Respondent filed and served its supporting Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion to Strike and Motion to Show Cause on May 25, 2023, in advance of the hearing on May 30, 2023. (R. pp. 174-280). On May 30, 2023, the Lower Court convened the hearing on Respondent's Motion to Show Cause and Motion to Strike. At the hearing, the Lower Court took the Motions under consideration and provided Appellants with fifteen (15) days to supplement discovery responses to provide complete information on alleged damages claimed for counterclaims or the counterclaims would be stricken for failure to comply with the Order to Compel. (R. p. 317, lines 3-10).

Thereafter, on the last day of the period provided by the Lower Court for Appellants to produce complete information on damages claimed in its Counterclaims, counsel for Appellants sent an e-mail to counsel for Respondent that included only three screen-shot attachments purporting to show ledger entries for eleven check numbers/charges or credit card charges and nothing else. (R. pp.336-344). Importantly, Appellants produced no cancelled checks, credit card statements, invoices, estimates, work orders, material charges, e-mails to substantiate the ledger entries provided in the screen-shots. Furthermore, Appellants failed to identify any additional witnesses despite several entities/individuals being implicated as having knowledge of issues based on the ledger entries. After receiving Appellants' e-mail dated June 14, 2023, counsel for Respondent informed the Lower Court of the information provided by Appellants and of Respondent's objections to the insufficiency of the response, and counsel for Appellants provided an explanation in response thereto. (R. pp. 345-353). Thereafter by e-mails dated June 28, 2023, counsel for Appellants and Respondent confirmed to the Lower Court that no further hearing or legal memoranda were required prior to the Lower Court issuing its ruling on Respondent's Motion to Show Cause and Motion to Strike. (R. p. 354).

On August 15, 2023, the Lower Court issued the Order granting Respondent’s Motion to Strike and Motion for Rule to Show Cause (hereafter the “Order”). (R. pp. 5-7). Appellants received written notice of the entry of the Order on August 15, 2023. Appellants then filed a Rule 59, SCRCPP Motion to Alter or Amend the Order on August 28, 2023, after the Order had already converted to a final judgment. (R. pp. 285-291). By Order dated September 1, 2023, the Lower Court issued an Order denying Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend the Order (hereafter the “Order- Rule 59, SCRCPP”) for failure to file the motion within the time provided for in Rule 59(e), SCRCPP. (R. pp. 8-10).

Appellants filed the Notice of Appeal on September 8, 2023 from the Order and Order- Rule 59, SCRCPP. Appellants filed the Initial Brief of Appellant on November 2, 2023.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW: MOTION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE

The selection of a sanction for discovery violations is within the trial court's discretion. *Griffin Grading v. Tire Service Equipment*, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (Ct.App. 1999). The appeal court will not interfere with that decision unless the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law. *Id.*

If a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, the trial court may impose sanctions such as striking pleadings, dismissing the action, or rendering a default judgment. *Id.* When the court orders default or dismissal, or the sanction itself results in default or dismissal, the end result is harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly; therefore, the sanction should be aimed at the specific conduct of the party sanctioned and not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case. *Id.* Where the sanction would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction. *Id.* In determining the appropriateness of a sanction, the court should consider such factors as the precise nature of the discovery and the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and degree of prejudice. *Id.*

### II. STANDARD OF REVIEW: MOTION TO STRIKE DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

In South Carolina, a party may waive the right to a jury trial by contract. *Beach Company v. Twillman, Ltd.*, 351 S.C. 56, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct.App. 2002). Such a waiver must be

strictly construed as the right to trial by jury is a substantial right; however, terms in a contract provision must be construed using their plain, ordinary and popular meaning. *Id.* A person who signs a contract or other written document cannot avoid the effect of the document by claiming that he did not read it. *Wachovia Bank v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 755 S.E.2d 437 (2014). Instead, when a person signs a document, he is responsible for exercising reasonable care to protect himself by reading the document and making sure of its contents. *Id.* Whether a party is entitled to a jury trial is a question of law. *Snow v. Smith*, 416 S.C. 72, 784 S.E.2d 242 (Ct.App. 2016).

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW: RULE 59, SCRCP MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE ORDER

Rule 59(e), SCRCP provides that a motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order. *Rule 59, SCRCP.* The South Carolina Supreme Court has held and affirmed that the ten-day limit for serving a Rule 59(e) motion is an absolute deadline." *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 815 S.E.2d 431 (2018). A trial court does not have the power to alter or amend a final order if more than ten days passes and no Rule 59(e) motion has been served, nor does a trial court have any power to grant the moving party an extension of time in which to file a Rule 59(e) motion. *Id.* The failure to serve a Rule 59(e) motion within ten days of receipt of notice of entry of the order converts the order into a final judgment. *Id.*

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### I. STATEMENT OF FACTS: MOTION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE

The Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCP designee for Appellant Law Firm testified at its depositions in the underlying lawsuit that Appellant Law Firm was in possession of but had failed to identify or produce the following voluminous information and documents in response to Respondent's Interrogatories and Requests for Production:

- 1) Complete information concerning any and all damages claimed by Appellants in their Counterclaims;
- 2) Complete information concerning attorney's fees and costs claimed by Appellants related to this lawsuit;
- 3) All omitted attachments to e-mails produced in discovery by Appellants;
- 4) Records of payments and communications with Trident Construction and all attachments to e-mails;
- 5) E-mails with Trinity Partner and Jonathan Calder concerning the Cigar Factory lease and upfit, occupancy, and abandonment of Suite 304;
- 6) All emails, records, documents, and bills concerning the Cigar Factory lease and upfit, occupancy, and abandonment of Suite 304;
- 7) Documents, e-mails, schematics, design documents, plans, invoices, and payment records concerning between Defendant and McMillan Pazdan Smith Architecture.; and,
- 8) All emails to and from the Appellant Anastopoulo concerning the subject matter of this litigation.

(R. pp. 324-325).

Despite identifying the undisclosed and unproduced documents and information at its deposition, Appellants refused to produce the supplemental information and documents as required by Rule 33, SCRCP and Rule 34, SCRCP, thereby forcing Respondent to file a Motion to Compel on April 5, 2022. (R. pp. 160-161). Following a hearing, the Lower Court granted

the Order to Compel and ordered Appellants to provide all information identified by Appellant Anastopoulo and Appellant Law Firm. (R. pp. 1-4). The Order to Compel ordered Appellants to provide the supplemental information identified at the deposition within fourteen days from the date of the Order due to underlying lawsuit being subject to trial given its position on the trial roster for Charleston County Circuit Court. *Id.*

Thereafter, well after the time provided for in the Order to Compel for Appellant to provide the supplemental information and documents had expired, Appellants identified and produced 621 e-mails and documents which had not been produced in their Responses to Requests for Production. Additionally, Appellants supplemented their Answers to Interrogatories to state that Appellants had incurred \$151,110.75 for relocation expenses and \$20,000.00 for attorney's fees/costs, with no documentation of any kind or affidavit of attorney's fees to support how such alleged damages were derived or to enable Respondent to evaluate the alleged damages and conduct sufficient discovery to defend against fairly significant monetary damages at trial. (R. p. 173).

Importantly, counsel for Respondent communicated with counsel for the Appellants on two separate occasions concerning the inadequacy of the supplemental information provided prior to filing Appellants' Motion to Show Cause. First, in an e-mail dated January 3, 2023, counsel for Respondent wrote the following to counsel for Appellants:

I am following up on your e-mail and supplemental production below to request that Defendants produce all documents related to the relocation expenses identified as Supplemental Answer to Interrogatory No. 5. Please provide all documentation used to derive the alleged claim for damages by January 9, 2023 to avoid a motion for rule to show cause for failure to comply with the terms of the Order to Compel.

(R. pp. 333-334).

Second, in an e-mail dated January 13, 2023, counsel for Respondent wrote the following to counsel for Appellants:

Please be advised that I will be filing a motion for rule to show cause on January 16, 2023 related to the Rule 11 SCRCP consultation I provided on January 3, 2023, to which I have received no response. I would like to avoid having to file such a motion but will have no other option if counsel refuses to respond to my e-mail and/or to provide the requested information/documents.

(R. p. 335).

Despite attempts by counsel for Respondent to resolve the issues, Appellants failed to provide any supplemental information or documents in response to counsel's Rule 11, SCRCP consultations and good faith attempts to avoid filing the Motion to Show Cause.

At the hearing on May 30, 2023, the Lower Court was provided a complete recitation of the above factual information and applicable law in Respondent's Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Show Cause. (R. pp. 174-280). At the hearing, Counsel for Respondent specifically argued to the Lower Court that the alleged damages numbers provided by Appellants, without any backup documentation, were essentially meaningless and placed Respondent in the position of having to defend against counterclaims seeking more than \$170,000 in alleged damages at trial without knowing what they were based on, who made the charges, who provided services or materials, or how the amounts were derived. (R. p. 312, line 22 – p. 314, line 23). At the hearing, the Lower Court specifically considered the advanced stage of discovery, Appellants' failure to comply with the Order to Compel, Appellants' failure to supplement discovery responses and document production, efforts by counsel for Respondent to resolve the issues prior to filing the Motion to Show Cause, and that the underlying lawsuit was up for trial imminently in order to weigh the conduct of Appellants and to determine the effect of

Appellants' failure to comply with the Order to Compel and continued refusal to produce information and documentation supporting its Counterclaims for damages against Respondent. (R. p. 312, line 22 – p. 317, line 10).

Furthermore, at the hearing on May 30, 2023, counsel for Appellants told the Lower Court that when I have asked my clients what information exists, "I was told we've given them everything we've got." (R. p. 315, lines 7-9). However, when the Lower Court asked, "where do you come up with the numbers" supplemented in discovery as counterclaim damages, counsel for Appellants answered, "your honor, I don't have a good answer for that." (R. p. 315, lines 10-13). The Lower Court further asked, "well, what are y'all going to ask the jury for, some random number?" Counsel responded, "no, your honor", and the Lower Court stated, "it's got to be based on something." (R. p.316, lines 4-8).

After hearing arguments and taking into consideration the supporting memoranda of law filed by Appellants and Respondent and made a part of the record, the Lower Court stated, "all right, he has 15 days from today's date to provide any and all information related to relocation or any damages that they have incurred. If at the close of 15 days, he has not provided either A, the information, B, or a sworn affidavit indicating that he does not have that information, then I'm going to strike his counterclaims." (R. p. 317, lines 3-10).

After being granted fifteen days by the Lower Court to supplement with full damages information and documents and with explicit warning that its Counterclaims might be stricken, counsel for Appellants emailed three screen shots showing eleven check numbers or credit card charges as its supplemental discovery response and nothing else. (R. pp. 336-344). Appellants failed to identify or produce any of the checks or credit card statements or the supporting invoices, estimates, work orders, material charges; furthermore, Appellants failed to identify any

additional witnesses implicated in the transactions referenced in the screen-shots. Furthermore, counsel for Respondent never provided an affidavit of attorney's fees and costs to provide support for its alleged claim for \$20,000 in attorney's fees and costs.

Essentially and throughout the pendency of this lawsuit, Appellants have exhibited a persistent and intentional refusal to comply with the discovery rules in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, to refuse to comply with the Order to Compel, and to provide even the most basic and essential information for damages to be claimed at trial despite being warned at a hearing on the Motion to Show Cause of having its counterclaims stricken. Respondent has been prejudiced throughout in having to incur significant legal fees and costs, in being unable to evaluate the Counterclaims asserted against it, and by having the trial of the underlying lawsuit delayed repeatedly due to Appellants' persistent and intentional violations of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS: MOTION TO STRIKE DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Appellant Law Firm entered into a Retail Lease Agreement dated November 1, 2016 (hereafter the "Lease Agreement") with Respondent for the lease of commercial office space in the Cigar Factory on East Bay Street in Charleston, South Carolina, and Appellant Anastopoulo entered into a Guaranty of Lease (hereafter the "Guaranty") to secure payment and performance of the Lease Agreement. (R. pp. 19-58).

Appellant Law Firm and Appellant Anastopoulo expressly waived their rights to a jury trial pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement and the Guaranty of Lease. Specifically, Article 25.10 of the Lease Agreement provides the following:

Article 25.10 Waiver of Right to Jury Trial or Permissive Counterclaims. Landlord and Tenant each hereby waives any and all right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim with respect to any matter arising out of or in any way connected

to with this Lease, the Premises, the Property, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant hereunder, Tenant's use or occupancy of the Premises, or any claim of injury or damage.

(R. p. 328).

Furthermore, Article 20 of the Guaranty of Lease provides the following:

GUARANTOR HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY EITHER IT OR LANDLORD AGAINST THE OTHER WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS GUARANTY.

(R. 329).

At his deposition, Appellant Anastopoulo testified that he signed the Lease Agreement and the Guaranty of Lease and intended to be bound by their terms and conditions. (R. 326-327).

At the hearing on the Motion to Strike on May 30, 2023, counsel for Respondent presented evidence to the Lower Court of the waiver of jury trial provisions in both the Lease Agreement and Guaranty. (R. p. 317, line 15 – p. 318, line 5). At the hearing, counsel for Respondent established to the Lower Court the legal standard for construing a waiver of jury trial provisions and that Appellants did not and could not dispute that the Lease Agreement was properly executed and enforceable. (R. p. 318, line 22 – p.319, line 3). Furthermore, at the hearing, counsel for Appellants stated “yes, there was a waiver in our 25.10 of the contract, the Lease Agreement there is a waiver.” (R. p. 319, lines 20-22).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. ARGUMENT: THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE.**

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